1953

Vera T. Callister v. Alfred Cyril Callister : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The grounds of divorce are set forth in paragraph 3 of the Findings of Fact (Tr. 7, 8) by which it is found, among other things, that the defendant has transferred his affections from plaintiff to another woman, avowing his love for the other woman and that his future happiness lies with her. The Doctor's affair of heart is fully outlined in a letter dated March 21, 1945 addressed to the plaintiff and introduced in evidence as Exhibit B.

Consistent with that portion of the Doctor's letter to his wife that she need have no worry about financial security and that one-half of everything belongs to her, the agreement of July 28, 1945 attached to the Findings of Fact in connection with the interlocutory decree (Tr. 12-18) was entered into. Paragraph numbered "THIRD" thereof reads as follows:

"That the second party agrees to pay to first party alimony in the sum of \$400.00 per month during the life of first party or until her re-marriage, and in addition thereto second party agrees to pay to first party \$50.00 per month for the support of the minor child, Vera Taft Callister, until said minor child becomes 18 years of age. The alimony and support money payments herein mentioned shall be paid to first party on or before the 5th day of each and every month beginning August 5, 1945." (Tr. 15).

The interlocutory decree, paragraph 5 (Tr. 21, 22) awards plaintiff judgment against the defendant "for alimony" in the sum of \$400.00 per month "during the

life of plaintiff or until her remarriage," thus following the language of the agreement. The decree, while characterizing the judgment as alimony, does not contain the somewhat usual provision "or until the court otherwise orders" nor does the judgment terminate upon the death of Dr. Callister. The decree expressly approves the agreement of July 28, 1945 and orders the same to be binding upon both parties. The agreement makes provision in favor of plaintiff for insurance carried on the life of defendant and for present and prospective attorneys' fees and costs. With regard to the latter the agreement at paragraph numbered "SEVENTH" provides:

"Second party hereby agrees to pay all attorneys' fees, costs, and expenses in any manner incurred by first party in the enforcement of this contract, or by reason of any controversy arising therefrom." (Tr. 16).

By the agreement certain corporate stocks listed in Exhibit A attached thereto and of the then approximate value of \$96,000.00 (Tr. 62) were divided equally between the parties and each received certain cash, personal property and real estate. Defendant received, among other things, real property now known as the Callister Hospital Clinic at 559 East South Temple, Salt Lake City, in which he subsequently invested \$30,000.00 by way of capital improvements, and presently carried on his books as a capital asset valued at \$50,000.00 (Tr. 67).

Shortly after the divorce Dr. Callister purchased a corner piece of property located at 23rd East and 39th South from his mother for \$1,350.00 (Tr. 69), upon which he has constructed a home for his present family consisting of his new wife and one child at a cost of another \$30,000.00 (Tr. 68). Since the divorce the defendant has sold stocks of the approximate value of \$19,500.00 (Tr. 62, 116), retaining the securities listed in Exhibit C (Tr. 63).

By reference to Exhibit E, the Pacific Coast Edition of the Wall Street Journal for November 25, 1952 and received in evidence for the purpose of determining the then market value of such of the securities that are listed on Exhibit C as may be listed in the Journal (Tr. 64), the securities so listed have a market value of \$50,512.50. By reference to Exhibit J, received in evidence to determine the value of Utah Oil Refining stock (Tr. 116, 117), the 33 shares of such stock held by defendant have a value of approximately \$990.00. The 1,875 shares of Medical Arts stock held by the Doctor have a value of \$1.10 per share (Tr. 64) or a total of \$2,062.50, and the Zions Benefit Building Society stock of which the Doctor has 144.86 shares (Tr. 65) valued at \$50.00 per share (Tr. 102) amounts to \$7,243.00. In all the Doctor at the time of the hearing on his petition for modification had stock and securities of a value of approximately \$60,808.00, and real estate of the value of at least \$60,000.00 with a mortgage indebtedness on the clinic property of \$8,900.00 (Tr. 67).

The defendant had a total gross income for the year 1950 of \$25,968.59 (Tr. 73), which did not include dividends in the amount of some \$3,250.00 (Tr. 70). In 1950 the defendant had a total income of some \$22,700.00 from personal service in connection with his profession and which did not include any income from his hospital venture (Tr. 84, 85). In 1951 he had a total income of some \$40,400.00 which includes dividends in the amount of \$3,200.00 and income from the hospital of \$10,800.00, or an income from professional services in the amount of \$26,400.00 (Tr. 85, 86). For the first six months of the year 1952 the Doctor's gross collections were \$14,850.00 (Tr. 91). In 1944 the Doctor had a net income from his professional practice of \$12,686.91 (Tr. 92). He persists in operating the hospital clinic at a loss.

Plaintiff, after the interlocutory decree, sold some \$45,000.00 of her securities (Tr. 122) and invested in real property. She now owns the Nira Apartments in Salt Lake City which she purchased for \$55,000.00 and on which she owes \$21,340.00 payable at the rate of \$279.84 per month, and upon which she has made capital improvements in the sum of \$16,000.00. She has also purchased a parking lot for \$13,500.00 upon which she owes \$8,432.62 (Tr. 124); a vacant lot on 21st East and 13th South for which she paid \$6,800.00 (Tr. 125) and a vacant lot on South State Street for which she paid \$5,250.00 which is being sold under a contract of sale for \$9,500.00 (Tr. 124, 125). Werner Kiepe, called as a

witness for Dr. Callister, testified that the Nira Apartments had a present market value of \$75,000.00 (Tr. 78, 79); the parking lot \$14,000.00 and the South 21st East property \$10,000.00 (Tr. 79, 80). Mrs. Callister retains five types of securities which she has held since the divorce (Tr. 123). Computing the value of these securities by reference to the Exhibits E and F we find that the present value of the same is \$18,581.25. Mrs. Callister's net rental income for the year 1951, as shown by Exhibit 2, was \$4,255.85; for 1950, as shown by Exhibit 1, the rental income was \$4,568.45; the only income shown by the record as going to Mrs. Callister except for the so-called alimony payments.

The property settlement agreement recites the marriage of the parties on July 13, 1916; that five children have been born as the issue of the marriage, and Dr. Callister testified that he is presently of the age of 58 years (Tr. 54). The findings of the trial court on the motion to modify (Tr. 151) are to the effect that the Doctor's income from his practice has decreased from \$1000.00 to \$600.00 per month; that heart trouble consistent with coronary artery disease, progressive in its nature, requires the Doctor to abstain from activities producing physical and mental strain, thereby reducing his ability to earn income from his profession; that since the original decree the Doctor has been required to sell many of the stocks distributed to him in the property settlement for the purpose of providing facilities and equipment for carrying on his practice and profession and

providing a home for himself and family; that since the entry of the interlocutory decree the Doctor has remarried and has a child of the age of 4 years depending upon him for support and maintenance.

After finding that the plaintiff, the appellant herein, has a net rental income in excess of \$4,500.00 per year with income from interest and investments in stocks it is concluded that the original decree should be amended as aforesaid, and that each party should pay his or her own costs in connection with the proceeding. The Court specifically finds that the plaintiff has adequate income from which to pay her own costs and attorneys' fees in defending the attack made upon the decree and property settlement agreement.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

This appeal challenges the findings of the trial court, its conclusions of law and its decree of modification, each and every part thereof being contrary to the evidence and to law and in connection therewith we assert the following:

1. The division of property, both present and prospective, was by contract confirmed by the interlocutory decree without consideration of the needs of the wife or the ability of the husband to continue to pay and, therefore, not subject to modification.

2. The so-called alimony provision is not subject to modification but only to termination as in the property settlement agreement expressly provided and which conditions have not occurred.

3. The Doctor husband cannot indulge himself the luxury of a costly home for his new family and a clinic, which he persists in operating at a loss, and thus claim impoverishment to the extent that he cannot respond to his contractual commitment and the decree of the court confirming the same.

4. No change of financial circumstance not voluntarily assumed by defendant is shown by the record warranting a decrease in the monthly payment to the plaintiff, nor is there any health consideration that merits such change.

5. The present income of the plaintiff is the normal consequence of prudent investment from capital assets received by virtue of the interlocutory decree of divorce and property settlement agreement.

6. The plaintiff should be awarded attorneys' fees and costs in the defense of defendant's motion.

The foregoing arise on the face of the record without any conflict in the evidence. There is no burden upon the appellant to show that the findings of the trial court are manifestly or clearly against the weight of the evidence as there is no substantial or any conflict with respect thereto.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE MONTHLY PAYMENT IS NOT SUBJECT TO MODIFICATION.

The rule that we are contending for here is set out in the case of *Dickey v. Dickey*, 141 A. 387, 58 A.L.R. 634 (Md.), which holds that if the allowance to the wife in the decree is the result of a previous agreement between the spouses and does not fall within the accepted definition of alimony, so that it would have been impossible for the chancellor to have allowed permanent alimony as the decree provides, then, notwithstanding that even the parties and the court called it "alimony," the allowance for the wife in the decree was not alimony and a court of equity has no power to modify the decree as in the case of an award of alimony. The Court points out that the agreement by the husband to pay the wife a weekly sum of money until her death or remarriage did not limit his payment to the joint lives of the spouses, and hence was not what the court could have decreed as alimony.

In the instant case we have the same situation as in the *Dickey* case, that is, that the agreement provides the wife with a periodic payment without reference to whether or not the husband survived her and where the monthly payment is referred to as "alimony." The Court in *Dickey v. Dickey*, *supra*, rejected as surplusage and as ill-advised the clause "or until the further order

of this court," thus bringing the decree in conformity with the agreement of the parties and giving to the decree its true import and intended effect by recognizing it as having been founded on contract. So, in the instant case, the term "alimony" as used both in the contract and interlocutory decree should not cause the Court to lose sight of the contract itself.

The Doctor and his wife had been married for 29 years. The divorce came at the threshold of the Doctor's career. By his letter, Exhibit B, he stated his intent to assure the plaintiff financial security and freedom from financial worry. The property settlement agreement approved by the Court as being just, fair and reasonable effectively binds the defendant to the payment of \$400.00 per month during the life of plaintiff or until her remarriage. The parties by contract divided their accumulated property and assets "of actual and contingent value" and has the effect of allocating to the wife the monthly payment aforesaid out of the estate of the defendant irrespective of his future earnings. The monthly payment to the plaintiff was but a part of a well conceived and carefully prepared contract to effectuate a just, fair and reasonable division of property. It was not contemplated by the parties that either of them could change or modify the provisions thereof nor did the interlocutory decree so provide. It is difficult to conceive of a more comprehensive statement of pur-

pose and intent. It is difficult to understand how the trial court could have been so unmindful of the integrity of contract.

In *North v. North*, 100 S.W. 2d 582, 109 A.L.R. 1061 (Mo.), the lower court modified a divorce decree as to the allowance made to the wife which the divorce decree denominates "alimony." In the original decree a judgment was entered in favor of the wife against the husband for the payment of alimony at the rate of \$500.00 per month so long as she remains single and unmarried. Some seven years after the decree the defendant filed a motion asking that the divorce decree be modified as to the amount of alimony on the alleged ground that the changed financial condition of the defendant warranted such action. After a hearing the lower court sustained defendant's motion and reduced the allowance made to plaintiff in the decree from \$500.00 to \$300.00 per month. Plaintiff appealed. Defendant died pending the appeal and the cause was revived in the name of the executrix of the defendant's estate.

The Missouri Supreme Court reversed the order of the trial court modifying the decree, holding (1) a husband and wife in contemplation of a separation and divorce may, by valid contract between them, settle and adjust all property rights growing out of the marital relation, including the wife's right of dower and claim for alimony, support and maintenance; (2) postnuptial contracts of separation are not unlawful, and such contracts when lawfully made, are sufficient to bar alimony

and dower; (3) the statute which authorizes the court to modify an award of alimony does not authorize the modification of legal contractual obligation which the husband assumes and agrees to pay his wife; (4) the parties had a lawful right to settle all their property rights by contract between themselves which they did do; (5) the contract is supported by a valid consideration; (6) the legal duty of the husband to support his wife when she lived with him, and his duty to provide support and maintenance for her in case of a separation and divorce furnished a sufficient consideration for the contract; (7) as an additional consideration for the contract of settlement the wife agreed to release her dower right in the husband's property.

We point to the similarity of the contract in the instant case with the principles announced by the court in the *North* case, even to the recital that the parties are desirous of settling any and all differences and claims with reference to division of property, alimony, support money, attorneys' fees and court costs, and to paragraph numbered "SIXTH" which reads as follows:

"This agreement and conveyance is mutually intended to be, and the same is hereby expressly made and intended by each of the parties hereto as a mutual release, relinquishment and conveyance of all the right, title and interest that may now be *or shall hereafter be, during the lifetime or at the death of either of the parties hereto,* acquired by the other by virtue of said marriage that now subsists between the parties hereto under the laws of the State of Utah, in and to

all of the property, both personal and real, of the other party, except to the extent of the moneys to be paid by the second party to the first party as alimony and support money; and it is the intention of the parties hereto to mutually release and waive all provisions of the laws of the State of Utah relating to husband and wife as to dower or the interests of the wife in the real property, homestead rights, etc., *and forever bar each other respectively from rights of succession or inheritance by reason of the marriage relation existing between them.*" (Italics ours).

In *North v. North* the *Dickey* case was quoted from at length and the court held the provision in the decree awarding the wife \$500.00 per month to continue so long as she remains single and unmarried (the same as that provided in the contract between the parties) justifies the conclusions that the decree was an approval of the contract, and not an award of alimony, because the court had no authority to make an award of alimony to continue so long as the wife remains single and unmarried but did have authority to approve a contract between the parties containing that provision, and concluded:

"Our conclusion in the instant case is that the allowance made to the wife in the decree was, in effect, an approval of the contractual obligation of the husband to the wife, and not an award of alimony, and for that reason is not subject to modification. A modification of the decree would amount to a modification of the

contract itself, which is not subject to revocation or modification except by consent of the parties thereto."

The authorities cited above go to the marrow of contract law and treat as ill-advised and misleading those decisions that say without explanation that an agreement between husband and wife settling their property rights is not binding on the courts in a divorce action. Where such contracts are free from fraud, collusion, or compulsion, and are fair to the wife, the courts have no right to disregard them.

In *Ettlinger v. Ettlinger*, 44 P. 2d 540 (Cal.), the court held: (1) that the parties may contract with regard to their properties and their respective interests therein; and (2) though not binding in the first instance on the court in which the divorce action is pending such contract may be approved and confirmed by the court and if appropriately referred to and adopted in its decree, such decree, as to matters covered by the agreement, becomes immune from subsequent modification. In *Puckett v. Puckett*, 136 P. 2d 1 (Cal.), the property settlement agreement was approved by the court and payments ordered by the decree to be paid pursuant to the agreement, thus making the decree immune from modification except by the consent of the parties. The court held that the periodic payments were not alimony; they were a part of a property settlement. The court stated that the agreement there under consideration leads to the conclusion that the monthly payments

ordered were an inseparable part of a property settlement agreement and therefore they may not be modified. This was on the theory that the monthly payments ordered by the decree were in effect and essence, a phase of the property settlement rather than mere alimony.

In *Rich v. Rich*, 112 P. 2d 780 (Cal.), the property settlement agreement referred to monthly installments as "alimony." The decree likewise referred to the payments as "alimony." The payments were required both by the agreement and the decree to continue even though plaintiff remarries. The plaintiff remarried after the divorce and the appellant moved to modify the decree by eliminating therefrom all payments accruing after the remarriage of his former wife. The court below denied the motion and on appeal the order was affirmed. The Court stated:

"Appellant's contention cannot be sustained. The payment of \$2,400.00 to respondent was an integral part of the property settlement agreement, and the fact that it was stated to be 'alimony for her support and maintenance,' and was to be paid in monthly installments instead of in a lump sum, does not alter the fact that the payments were made pursuant to the agreement approved and adopted by the court in the interlocutory decree, and not merely as alimony awarded by the court. A careful reading of the agreement indicates clearly that it was the intention of the parties to definitely, fully and permanently adjust all of their property rights, and the title to the paragraph providing for the payment of the \$2,400.00, 'Payment of Money to

First Party by Second Party,' clearly shows it to be an integral part of the agreement. The further clause that 'said (monthly) payments to continue even in the event of remarriage' indicates also that it was the intention of the parties that respondent should receive the full \$2,400.00. To sustain appellant's contention would in our opinion deprive respondent of what may well have been an important part of the consideration which induced her to execute the agreement. The property settlement agreement having been approved by the court and incorporated in the interlocutory decree, is now binding upon the parties, and cannot now be avoided."

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