1953

## Vera T. Callister v. Alfred Cyril Callister : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### I

#### THE MONTHLY PAYMENT IS ALIMONY AND THEREFORE SUBJECT TO MODIFICATION.

At the outset there should be no argument with the proposition that if the provision in the original divorce decree to the effect that the plaintiff "be and she is hereby awarded judgment against the defendant for alimony in the sum of \$400.00 per month" (R. 21) is a judgment for alimony, such judgment is subject to subsequent modification or change by the court even though the decree itself does not specifically reserve that right. The provisions of our statute, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, 30-3-5 reserve the right of the court to make such subsequent



modifications as the court shall deem reasonable and proper. See, also, Jones vs. Jones, 104 Utah 275, 139 P. 2d 222. Thus, the sole issue is whether or not the agreement between the parties was an independent contract of the parties or whether it was embodied in the judgment so to be superseded by the judgment and therefore become alimony. An examination of the decree of divorce in this case (R. 19) and an examination of the conclusions of law upon which the court made its original decree does not show that the court merely approved the contract between the parties but rather indicates that the court used this as a basis to aid the court in determining how much alimony should be paid and the court rendered judgment for \$400.00 per month as "alimony." Obviously, from a reading of the decree as well as a reading of the conclusions of law it appears that the court adopted the identical wording found in the agreement between the parties (R. 12).

The courts appear to be in accord in holding that where the contract is not merely approved by the court but is rather adopted and incorporated into the decree, that the agreement thereby becomes merged in the decree awarding alimony and support money. Any such agreement between the parties loses its contractual nature so that the court may thereafter modify the decree as to the amount to be paid. See annotation in 166 A.L.R. 679. In a case heretofore before this court, Jones vs. Jones, supra, the parties had entered into a stipulation to govern the property rights of the parties in the event a divorce was granted. This stipulation was incorporated in the findings and constituted a basis for the decree for alimony and for the support of the children. On appeal the ques-

tion presented to the Supreme Court was whether or not the court had jurisdiction to modify the provisions of the alimony decree which was originally based upon a stipulation between the parties. The court held:

“The question raised by the first contention can no longer be considered an open question in this State. In the recent case of Barraclough vs. Barraclough, 100 Utah 196, 111 P. 2d 792, 793, this identical point was raised. The parties had entered into a stipulation governing the amount of alimony to be paid. The stipulation was incorporated into the findings and made the basis for the alimony decree. The plaintiff filed a petition to modify the decree. We held in a Per Curiam opinion, that the court had the power to modify such a decree. In so holding, we stated: ‘In a divorce action the trial court should make such provision for alimony as the present circumstances of the parties warrant, and any stipulation of the parties in respect thereto serves only as a recommendation to the court. If the court adopts the suggestion of the parties it does not thereby lose the right to make such modification or change thereafter as may be requested by either party based on some change or circumstances warranting such modification.’ ”

The agreement between plaintiff and defendant (Exhibit A attached to the findings (R. 12) and also Exhibit A in this proceeding) indicates that the parties are using the written memorandum for the purpose of settling the differences and claims with respect to “property, alimony, support money, attorneys fees, and court costs.” The stipulation shows that a divorce proceeding was already in process between the parties, the complaint having been filed on April 7, 1945 (R. 6). The agreement between the

parties was made on the 28th day of July, 1945, while the decree of the court was entered on the 30th day of July, 1945. The decree recites throughout that this is for the purpose of settling the differences between the parties as to alimony and property and refers in paragraph three that the second party pay to the first party as "alimony" the sum of \$400.00 per month. This is undoubtedly a compromise between the amount asked for by the plaintiff in her complaint wherein she requested alimony in the sum of \$600.00 per month on both her first cause of action and also on her second cause of action.

In the case of *Alder vs. Alder*, (1940) 373 Ill., 361, 26 N.E. 2d 504, (Writ of Certiorari denied in 1940, 311 U.S. 670, 85 L.ed 430, 61 S.Ct. 29) the court in that case had before it the question of a modification of a decree and held as follows:

"Respondent could rely on the contract for the payment, and in the event of a breach of any of its parts could bring appropriate action for the enforcement of its provisions, or she had the right with the approval of petitioner to have a consent decree entered adopting the provisions of the agreement. The latter action having been taken, the provisions for quarterly payments to respondents as provided in the supplemental trust indenture and trust agreement of December 1, 1922, became merged in the decree. The fact that the decree adopted the terms of the agreement did not destroy or defeat the power of the court to alter such provisions when a change of circumstances justified a modification. *Maginnis vs. Maginnis*, 323 Ill. 113, 153 NE. 654; *Herrich vs. Herrich*, *supra*; *Camp vs. Camp*, 158 Mich. 221, 122 NW. 521."

The case of *Hough vs. Hough* (1945) 26 Cal. 2d

605, 160 P. 2d 15, presented a similar question involving a separation agreement between the parties and a subsequent divorce decree in which this agreement was incorporated. There the court held:

“Turning first to the relation between the separation agreement and the divorce decree, it appears to be well settled that if the agreement is presented to the court in a divorce proceeding for adjudication, and the agreement, or a part thereof, is incorporated in the decree and made a part thereof, the part so incorporated is merged in the decree. . . . In *Holloway vs. Holloway* (1935) 130 Ohio St. 214, 198 NE 579, 154 ALR 439, *supra*, the issue involved was whether a holding for contempt for failure to pay support allowances under a divorce decree which was based upon a separation agreement incorporated therein would be an unlawful imprisonment for debt, and the court held it would not because the obligation was on the decree and not the agreement, stating at page 580: ‘. . . A decree which incorporates an agreement is a decree of court nevertheless, and as soon as incorporated into the decree the separation agreement is superseded by the decree, and the obligations imposed are not those imposed by contract, but are those imposed by decree, and enforceable as such. *Once the contract is merged into the decree, the value attaching to the separation agreement is only historical.*’ ” (Italics added).

The case of *Barraclough vs. Barraclough*, *supra*, decided by this court in 1941 and also cited by appellant in her brief in which the court has stated:

“However, the law with respect to property settlements not being applicable to situations where alimony is involved, we need not enter into a dis-

cussion of the above rule, which we conclude that the 'stipulation' the substance of which was incorporated by the court in its decree, was not a property settlement but an agreement as to what 'alimony' the court might award appellant in case a divorce was granted. It did not constitute a settlement of property rights between the parties. The agreement was just what it said it was, to wit: a 'stipulation' as to what appellant was willing the court should award her as alimony. And the decree was so treated as an award of alimony by both parties and the court. On two different occasions appellant sought the assistance of the court in compelling respondent to abide by its terms or be punished for contempt. The court willingly exercised its contempt power to enforce the decree; and respondent made no objection to such procedure on the ground that the decree sought to be enforced was not one for alimony.

"Therefore, the trial court erred in determining that the agreement here constituted a 'complete and final settlement of all alimony between the parties, and that such settlement has become a final judgment as to alimony \* \* \* insofar as a petition to modify is concerned.' In a divorce action the trial court should make such provision for alimony as the present circumstances of the parties warrant, and any stipulation of the parties in respect thereto serves only as a recommendation to the court. If the court adopts the suggestion of the parties it does not thereby lose the right to make such modification or change thereafter as may be requested by either party based on some change in circumstances warranting such modification. And where an appeal is taken from the judgment of the trial court in such case we will review the record to determine whether or not the appli-



cant is entitled to the relief sought in the petition to modify the alimony decree. *Hampton vs. Hampton*, 86 Utah 570, 47 P. 2d 419; *Openshaw vs. Openshaw*, 80 Utah 9, 12 P. 2d 364."

In the instant matter it was conceded by all of the parties to this proceeding that the decree for alimony was subject to modification since both plaintiff and defendant originally requested the court to modify the decree—plaintiff seeking to increase the award while defendant sought to decrease it. In her amended answer plaintiff further admitted "that said decree provided that plaintiff was to receive the sum of \$400.00 per month as alimony." Nor did plaintiff raise any affirmative defense with respect to the purported binding and conclusive nature of the Agreement for Property Settlement and Alimony in the pleadings filed in the case. In view of these facts the court might well say as it did in the *Barraclough Case*, *supra*, "the decree was so treated as an award of alimony by both parties and the court."

Insofar as the agreement of the parties in this case is concerned it treats of the subject of property settlement as well as the subject of alimony. Under the first provision plaintiff was to receive in effect one-half of all of defendant's property — both real and personal. This property settlement was complied with and is not in dispute. The parties also agreed upon the amount of alimony which appellant was to receive, it being the position of the respondent herein that the alimony provision stands in the same position as a stipulation between the parties as to the amount the court could award as alimony. This was in fact adopted by the court in the decree which is referred to herein.



As hereinbefore stated, every divorce decree in this state in which alimony is granted to the party must be deemed to have been made or entered by the court subject to the provisions of our code, Section 30-3-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which authorizes the court to modify or revise the decree in case of a change of circumstances or where the conditions of the parties have been materially altered. See *Buzzo vs. Buzzo* (1915) 45 Utah 625, 148 Pac. 362.

The California court has summarized this position in the case of *Johnson vs. Johnson* (1930) 104 Cal. App. 283, 285 Pac. 902, 904:

“When the court awards alimony to an innocent wife it is not bound by the terms of a contract between the parties, either as to its amount or its duration. The power to make the award is drawn from the terms of the statute and not from the agreement of the husband and wife. It follows that the power to modify the award of alimony, either as to amount, duration, or time and manner of payment, is inherent in the court, unhampered by the terms of any contract which the parties might have entered into providing for the payment of any such alimony, when it is given in the order or decree as maintenance only. *Smith vs. Superior Court*, 89 Cal. App. 177, 264 P. 573; *Soule vs. Soule*, 4 Cal. App. 97, 87 P. 205; *Gates vs. Gates*, 54 Cal. App. 407, 202 P. 151; notes 58 A.L.R. 639.”

See, also, the annotation in 109 A.L.R. 1068.

The Wyoming Supreme Court in the case of *Lonabaugh vs. Lonabaugh*, 46 Wyo. 23, 22 Pac. 2d 199, held that where a divorce decree has adopted in part a contract of the parties relative to property settlement in alimony

payments, the court nevertheless, under the powers of a statute similar to ours authorizing the court to modify or amend its original decree, has the power to modify the decree relating to alimony notwithstanding such contract between the parties. This case was cited and approved and followed in a subsequent case of *Buchler vs. Buchler*, (1949) 65 Wyo. 452, 202 Pac. 2d 670. The Supreme Court of the State of Washington has held in the case of *Heuchan vs. Heuchan*, (1951) 38 Wash. 2d 207, 228 Pac. 2d 470, 476:

“The property settlement agreement is no hurdle, however, because, when appellant stipulated at the time of his first petition for modification that the payment provided for in the property settlement agreement were alimony, the payments ceased to be a matter that could be controlled by contract between the parties and became subject to such modification, alteration, and revision by the court ‘as circumstances may require.’ ”

So in the present case the parties hereto had entered into an agreement whereby the wife was to receive alimony as therein provided and then incorporated this provision as an alimony payment in the decree, thus making it alimony subject to the modification by our court under the provisions of the statute heretofore cited.

Point is made by appellant of the fact the alimony payment is supposed to continue during the lifetime of the wife or until she shall remarry. Thus, it is argued, this is not a proper alimony payment but is based upon a contractual relation between the parties. This court, in the case of *Murphy vs. Moyle*, (1898) 17 Utah 113, 53 Pac. 1010, referred to the laws of Utah, 1888, which read substan-

tially the same as present statute, Section 30-3-5 and stated:

“This statute is broad and comprehensive. Under it the court has power to make such a decree as the circumstances may warrant, and doubtless, if there is danger of the father squandering the estate, or if, from hostility or other cause he is likely to refuse maintenance to his wife, or support to his children awarded to her, and thus leave the children to be supported by the mother without aid from his estate, the court may make such order, respecting the property and the support and maintenance of the wife and children, as is just and equitable, *and such order or decree may be made to continue in force after his decease*; and the court may afterwards, if occasion shall require it, make such change in any decree as ‘will be conducive to the best interest of all parties concerned.’ ” (Italics added).

Thus, it is possible that a decree which provides for alimony payment to the wife may survive the death of the husband. It is within the discretion of the court as to whether or not alimony payments have to be paid by the husband’s estate after his death and until the death of the wife. See the notes in 18 A.L.R. 1050; 101 A.L.R. 326.

Appellant relies upon the case of Ettlinger vs. Ettlinger (California) 44 Pac. 2d 540, to the effect that the property settlement could not be modified in the instant matter. In the Ettlinger Case the property settlement was approved by the court; and the decree provided:

“It is further ordered, adjudged and decreed that *in pursuance of the aforementioned agreement* the plaintiff do have and recover from the defen-

dant the sum of \$250.00 per month.” (Italics added).

In distinguishing the property settlement involved in the Ettlinger Case with a previous case of *Armstrong vs. Armstrong*, 132 Cal. App. 609, 23 Pac. 2d 50, the Supreme Court of California stated:

“The instant case, as distinguished from the one just cited, presents an express confirmation and adoption by the court of the property settlement agreement. The court was therefore without jurisdiction to thereafter modify its provisions.”

The court further stated:

“In our opinion, the contract suggests that such payments were to be made to and received by plaintiff *as part of the property settlement and in lieu of property rights*. This would appear to have been recognized in both the interlocutory and final decrees of divorce for each provides that ‘neither the making of this decree nor anything herein contained shall in any manner modify, restrict, affect or prejudice the provisions or any of them, of said agreement hereinabove mentioned *which agreement and all of its provisions shall remain in full force and effect*.’ Each decree thereupon directs the payment by defendant to plaintiff of \$250.00 a month ‘in pursuance of the aforementioned agreement.’ ” (Italics added).

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